
        David & Jenny Carter 

Nimrod Research 
         

Docton Court 
2 Myrtle Street 

       Appledore 
Bideford 

        North Devon   EX39 1PH 
         

        www.nimrodresearch.co.uk 
enquiries@nimrodresearch.co.uk 

 

Wiltshire’s Nimrod Indexes founded in 1969 by Dr Barbara J Carter J.P., Ph.D., B.Sc., F.S.G. 

 

 

        May 2012 
 

Building History (Statement of Significance) 
 

No.3 Bridge Street 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



         

2 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contents: 
 
 

Listing Description - - - - 3 
 
Planning History - - - - 4 
 
Census Records - - - - 4 
 
Property Description - - - - 7 
 
Photographs - - - - - 8 
 
Beam markings - - - - 10 
 
Roof timbers - - - - - 11 
 
Dendro-chronology Report - - - 12 
 
Summary & Conclusion - - - 13 

 
 
 
 
 

N.B.  
 

This is a SPECIFIC report on the history of number  
3 Bridge Street, Bideford. 
 
For the general history of Bridge Street, and the 
complete row of buildings which comprise numbers 
1 to 5 ð see the separate GENERAL report. 
 

These reports have been separated 
to keep file sizes as small as possible. 
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Listing Description ς 3 Bridge Street: 
 
Description: Royal Mail Public House (part) 2 and 3 
Grade: II 
Date Listed: 19 March 1973 
English Heritage Building ID: 375728 
OS Grid Reference: SS4539526471 
OS Grid Coordinates: 245395, 126471 
Latitude/Longitude: 51.0168, -4.2055 
Listing NGR: SS4539026472 
 
SS4526 BRIDGE STREET, BIDEFORD 
842-1/6/15 (South side) 
19/03/73 Nos.2 AND 3  
Royal Mail Public House (part)  
(Formerly Listed as: BRIDGE STREET (South side) Nos.2 and 3 Royal Mail Inn) 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Photograph of No.3 Bridge Street taken 
at the time of listing in 1973, when 
trading as the upper part of the ‘Royal 
Mail’ Public House. 
 
 
 
 

 
Two houses, now part of a public house. Early C19, but could be basically earlier (cf No 1). 
Solid rendered walls. Slate roofs. Red brick chimney at right-hand end of rear wall. No 2 is 3 
storeys of 2-window range. Ground-storey openings (a doorway and 2 windows) boarded 
up. Upper-storey windows have mostly box-framed sash-windows, that to left of second 
storey with 2-paned sashes. Left-hand third-storey window differs in having a 3-light wood 
casement. No 3 is 2 storeys of 2-window range. Ground-storey windows boarded up. At 
each end a C19 shop display window with entablature above it. Second storey has 6-paned 
sash windows in box-frames.  
 
INTERIOR not inspected.  
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Former Planning History: 
 
None able to be determined. 
 
 

Census Records: 
 
1911 census 
Property unable to be found in 1911, as full searchable records are not yet available.  
 
1901 census 
4 Bridge Street, Bideford [property identified as No.3] 
John VAUGHAN, head, 37, cutler, works at home, born: Barnstaple 
Jane VAUGHAN, wife, 37, born: St Ives, Cornwall 
John W VAUGHAN, son, 16, cutler, born: Carmarthen 
{ŀƳǇǎƻƴ ! ±!¦DI!bΣ ǎƻƴΣ мпΣ ƛǊƻƴƳƻƴƎŜǊΩǎ ŜǊǊŀƴŘ ōƻȅΣ ōƻǊƴΥ /ŀǊƳŀǊǘƘŜƴ 
William J VAUGHAN, son, 12, born: Bideford 
Matthew H VAUGHAN, son, 9, born: Bideford 
Steven VAUGHAN, son, 6, born: Bideford 
Frederick C VAUGHAN, son, 4, born: Bideford 
Lavinia VAUGHAN, dau, 8 mon, born: Bideford 
(taken from Class: RG13; Piece: 2160; Folio: 58; Page: 9) 
 
1891 census 
3 Bridge Street, Bideford. 
John VAUGHAN, head, 27, cutler, born: Barnstaple 
Jane VAUGHAN, wife, 27, born: St Ives, Cornwall 
Sampson A VAUGHAN, son, 2, born: Carmarthen 
William J VAUGHAN, son, 1, born: Bideford 
(taken from Class: RG12; Piece: 1786; Folio 136; Page 14) 
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1881 census 
3 Bridge Street, Bideford. 
William HARRIS, head, 60, barge man & Farm labourer, born: Monkleigh 
Ann HARRIS, wife, 50, born: Monkleigh 
William H HARRIS, son, 24, farm labourer, born: Monkleigh 
Alfred G HARRIS, son, 13, scholar, born: Monkleigh 
Martha HARRIS, dau, 9, scholar, born: Monkleigh 
Charles L AVANT, boarder, 54, excavator, born: Torquay 
(taken from Class: RG11; Piece: 2259; Folio: 46; Pages: 8 & 9) 
 
1871 census 
3 Bridge Street, Bideford 
Susan CAWSEY, head, 46, widow, needle woman, born: Langtree 
Fanny E CAWSEY, dau, 18, invalid, born: Bideford 
Arthur CAWSEY, son, 6, scholar, born: Bideford 
Plus: 
James BAKER, head, 49, carpenter, born: Filleigh 
Thirza BAKER, wife, 52, born: Tawstock 
Martha BAKER, dau, 7, scholar, born: Neath, Glamorganshire 
Samuel BROWNSCOMBE, lodger, 27, joiner, born: Atherington, Devon 
James Edward HOOPER, lodger, 23, stone mason, born: St Mary Church, Devon 
Robert Crispen HOOPER, lodger, 20, stone mason, born: St Mary Church, Devon 
(taken from Class: RG10; Piece: 2201; Folio: 43; Page: 6) 
 
It is not unusual to find more than one family group living in a single property, as would 
appear to be the case here. 
 
1861 census 
Bridge Street, Bideford 
William MATTHEWS, head, 50, omnibus driver, born: Buckland Brewer 
Mary MATTHEWS, wife, 51, born: Bideford 
William H MATTHEWS, son, 16, light porter, born: Bideford 
(taken from Class: RG9; Piece: 1502; Folio: 141; Page: 5) 
 
1851 census 
Property unable to be identified with certainty. 
 
1841 census 
Bridge Street contained about 22 properties at this time, but it is not possible to identify the 
exact buildings being investigated in this report. 
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Looking down Bridge Street 
(undated, but probably 
c.1900). 
 
On the immediate right is 
No.3 Bridge Street, with a 
(sadly unreadable) 
advertising sign on a 
hanging bracket. 
 
The next sign down on No.2 
is for the Royal Mail pub. 
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Property Description: 
 
Ground Floor: 
 
Floor: Ceramic tile (modern). 
 
Walls:  Dado paneling (recent) and plaster. 
 
Ceiling:  Plasterboard & skim, between 2 exposed cross beams spanning the width of the 

property (about 10-metre span). 
The visible size of these beams (width x height) working from front to back, is as 
follows: 
300 x 290mm. 
300 x 290mm. 
The beams are of almost perfect quality (no twists or bends), they have no chamfers, 
and are plain for their entire length. However, it is their length that is surprising, and 
that fact that such good quality timbers have been sourced which could span this 
distance. There were no apparent hand-tool marks, but neither were there any 
obvious saw-marks. 
There were a number of markings on the beams - see below for photographs of 
markings. 
 
2 posts (300mm x 290mm, and 290mm x 280mm) had been positioned to support 
these beams, the posts having some signs of tool marks on them ς but very similar to 
the tool marks on the modern bar-top, so these posts may have been inserted in 
recent times, even though the timber posts do seem to match the beams. 
Only one of these posts was indicated on the 1996 survey plan, but this was possibly 
an error in the drawing. 
 
A cast-iron range is visible in a former fireplace to the side of the ground floor. 
aŀǊƪŜŘ Ψ.ƛŘŜŦƻǊŘΩΣ ōǳǘ ǘƘŜ ƳŀƪŜǊΩǎ ƴŀƳŜ ǇƭŀǉǳŜ Ƙŀǎ ōŜŜƴ ǊŜƳƻǾŜŘΦ 
 
A former light-well has been roofed over at the rear of the property. 

 
Staircase: straight-flight staircase leading to first floor. 
 
 
First Floor: 
 
This floor area has largely been split up into WC accommodation, and other small rooms. 
Nothing of significance noted here, but stripping-out may expose some earlier features. 
 
[N.B. Subsequent stripping out of all fittings and partitions failed to find anything worthy of 
note]. 
 

= = = = = = = = 
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Photographs: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
Interior photographs of 3 Bridge Street. 
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First floor of No.3 Bridge Street following stripping out of all WC, partitions, etc. 
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Beam markings: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Markings on the beams and post to Ground Floor 
in No.3 Bridge Street.  
 
(These markings will be discussed and explained in the section for No.1 Bridge Street). 
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Roof timbers: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
The roof structure in this building appears somewhat rustic in nature. All the rafters are 
modern, indicating that the roof has been recovered in recent times. 
The underlying structure is much older, the timbers rough-hewn, and the cross beams fixed 
with nailed joints. Some of the purlins are ancient, some are modern replacements. 
 
See Dendro-report below for findings on the dating of these timbers. 
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Dendro-chronology Report: 
 
In March 2012, a dendro-chronology (tree-ring dating) report was commissioned for some 
of the timbers discovered in Nos. 1 to 5 Bridge Street, and the following timbers from No.3 
were sampled: 
 

¶ DǊƻǳƴŘ ŦƭƻƻǊ ΨōŀǳƭƪΩ ǇƛƴŜ ǘƛƳōŜǊǎΦ 

¶ Roof timbers. 
 
 
 
 
 
The summary of the results from No.3 were as follows: 
 

¶ The ground floor pine timbers were unable to be dated. No match could be found for 
these from any database. This is not unusual for pine timbers. However, the timbers 
were found to be similar in age to the other ground floor beams in Numbers 1 and 2 
Bridge Street. 

 

¶ Eight samples were taken from the principal rafters, trusses, purlins and collars. 
Three of these were unable to be dated, but of the others, two contained complete 
sapwood (the final growth-ring of the tree, before felling), so the exact date these 
timbers were cut, can be determined. This was 1720. 

¶ Of the other dateable samples, two had partial sapwood, so exact felling-date was 
unable to be determined, but appeared to suggest they were also indicating a 1720 
felling-date. 

¶ One sample suggested a date about 20-years earlier, so may have been a re-used 
timber. 

 
 

= = = = = = = = 
 
 
 
 

See the Dendro Report by Nottingham Tree-Ring Dating Laboratories 
for full details of the tests and results carried out on these timbers. 
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Summary and Conclusion (2 and 3 Bridge Street - combined): 
 
In Numbers 1, 2, and 3 Bridge Street, we have properties of a different character to that of 4 
& 5 Bridge Street. 
 
Plans show that their depth is only as much as we would expect for buildings of a domestic 
scale. Census records show that labouring and tradesman classes were occupying these 
properties in Victorian times. The interlinking of these 3 properties does confuse the 
situation, but given that Numbers 2 and 3 of are similar size and layout, we will consider 
these together. 
 
The upper floors are of a standard of accommodation that can be expected for a town-
house of this size and style. 
 
The lower floors have been opened up, which is understandable given the use to which 
ǘƘŜǎŜ ōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎǎ ǿŜǊŜ ǊŜŎŜƴǘƭȅ ǇǳǘΦ ²Ŝ Ŏŀƴ ǎŜŜ ŦǊƻƳ ǊŜŎƻǊŘǎ ǘƘŀǘ ǘƘŜ Ψwƻȅŀƭ aŀƛƭΩ Ǉǳō 
appears at No.2 Bridge Street sometime between 1851 and 1861, when John Copp 
(victualler) is living there. Sometime in the 20th century, the Royal Mail pub was extended to 
include No.3 Bridge Street. The Ordnance Survey map from the 1930s shows them as 2 
separate properties, whereas the Ordnance Survey map from the 1950s shows Nos.2 and 3 
as both being one large Public House. 
 
The significant ground floor feature of both Nos. 2 and 3, are the large beams which extend 
across the width of both properties. These beams are described and illustrated in the notes 
for No.1 Bridge Street, but it is their length which is significant. These are large pieces of 
ƛƳǇƻǊǘŜŘ ǎƻŦǘǿƻƻŘ ǘƛƳōŜǊΣ ōŀǎƛŎŀƭƭȅ ΨōŀǳƭƪǎΩ ǇǊƻōŀōƭȅ ƛƴǘŜƴŘŜŘ ŦƻǊ ǎƘƛǇōǳƛƭŘƛƴƎΣ ōǳǘ ǳǎŜŘ 
here for construction instead. The markings on them (particularly the beam in No.3) will be 
referred to in the report on No.1, where further marks of the same nature were discovered. 
Imported softwood beams of such a size are unlikely to date from the early 1600s, and it 
therefore appears that some major replacement of the floor structures to No.s 1, 2 and 3 
Bridge Street all occurred at some more recent time. 
 
At first and second floor levels, the accommodation appears to be largely domestic, but 
subsequent discoveries made in stripping-out have shown the property to be much older 
than the notes in thŜ ƭƛǎǘƛƴƎ ŘŜǎŎǊƛǇǘƛƻƴ ŀǎ ōŜƛƴƎ ΨŜŀǊƭȅ мфth ŎŜƴǘǳǊȅΩΦ ¢ƘŜ ǎǘƻǇǎ ƻƴ ŀ ŘƻƻǊǿŀȅ 
at second floor level, match the detailing on fireplace lintels in No.1 which have been 
approximately dated to the 1630s. 
 
The Roof timbers of No.3 have been dated precisely to 1720, and the roof timbers of No.2 
dated to approximately to the 1630s. This is a little curious given that the properties all 
appear on a map believed to date from 1717, and suggests that the roof of No.3 was 
replaced on top of a much earlier structure. 
 
The depth of the roof (front to back) for No.2 is much less than the depth of the roof of 
No.3, and the internal layout of No.2 suggests that an enclosed courtyard previously existed 
at the rear of this property. 
 


